Biomass and Volume Estimates for Valuable Timber Species in Mozambique

Rosta Mate

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Energy and Technology Uppsala

Licentiate Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2014

Report (Department of Energy and Technology) Licentiate thesis/Report 074 ISSN 1654-9406 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-9250-4 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-9251-1 © 2014 Rosta Mate, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2014

Biomass and Stem Volume Estimates for Valuable Timber Species in Mozambique

Abstract

Accurate aboveground biomass and stem volume estimates are crucial for the management of Mozambique's forests. This study focused on the development of aboveground biomass and stem volume equations for the three most valuable commercial timber species in Mozambique, Afzelia quanzensis Welm. (Chanfuta), Milletia stuhlmannii Taub. (Jambire) and Pterocarpus angolensis D.C. (Umbila). A total of 57 plots were surveyed in three localities: Inhaminga, Mavume and Tome. The diameter at breast height, commercial height, and total height was recorded for all tree species in the surveyed plots. Fifty-eight trees were sampled (24 Chanfuta, 15 Jambire, and 19 Umbila) and used to obtain biomass and volume data by means of destructive methods. Felled trees were subdivided into 5 sections by cutting at 10, 30, 50, 70 and 90% of their total stem height. The recorded data included the top and bottom diameters of each stem section, the length of each section, and the fresh weights of each section as well as the other tree fractions (i.e. branches and leaves). Sub-samples for dry weight and basic wood density determination in the lab were collected from each stem section, at breast height, and from branches and leaves. Biomass values were calculated from the ratios of the dry and fresh weights for each sub-sample. The stem volumes of the sampled trees were estimated from the volumes of the stem sections, which were in turn estimated using Smalian's formula. Biomass and volume data were fitted using non-linear power equations. Diameter at breast height was the best predictor of the total and stem biomass ($R^2 \ge 0.89$), while diameter and height best explained the stem volume data ($R^2 \ge 0.94$).

Jambire was found to have the highest biomass of the three species and Umbila the lowest. The stems of Chanfuta and Jambire accounted for the majority of their total biomass but the branches accounted for most of the biomass of Umbila. The commercial stem length accounted for between 30% and 70% of the total length, indicating that commercial logging could produce substantial quantities of biomass residues that could be used for other purposes such as the generation of bioenergy. This would reduce the need to fell forests for energy in Mozambique. Future studies focusing on site-specific biomass and volume estimates as well as annual growth estimates will be required to improve the quality of the estimates presented herein and to support the planning and utilization of Mozambique's forest resources.

Keywords: aboveground biomass, Miombo woodlands, Chanfuta, Jambire, Umbila, species-specific equations, commercial stem volume, logging residues

Author's address: Rosta Mate, SLU, Department of Energy and Technology, P.O. Box 7032,750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* rosta.mate@ slu.se

Dedication

To my family, Teófilo, Dylan and Lakisha

Contents

List	of Publications	7
Abb	reviations	9
1	INTRODUCTION	11
1.1	Background	11
1.2	The Mozambican forest sector	11
1.3	Energy supplies	13
1.4	Major Mozambican tree species and their distribution	14
	1.4.1 Growth cycles of the studied species	15
1.5	Biomass and Volume Estimation Methods	16
1.6	Challenges of Biomass and Volume Estimates	17
2	OBJECTIVES	19
2.1	Structure of the Work	19
3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	21
3.1	Study Areas and Data used for Equation Development	21
3.2	Sampling Design and Sampling Units	24
3.3	Biomass and Stem Volume Measurements	24
	3.3.1 Biomass and Stem Volume Equations	27
3.4	Merchantable Stem Volume Estimates	28
3.5	Statistical Analysis for Biomass and Volume Equations	28
4	RESULTS	31
4.1	Stand Characteristics in the studied Localities	31
4.2	Biomass and Stem Volume Estimates	32
4.3	Data Fitting and Selection of Best Fit Equations	34
5	DISCUSSION	37
5.1	Biomass and Stem Volume Equations	38
5.2	Forest Residues Estimates	40
6	CONCLUSIONS	43
7	FURTHER WORK	45

REFERENCES	47
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	57

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Mate, R., Johansson, T., Almeida S. (2014). Biomass equations for tropical tree species in Mozambique. *Forests*, 5, 535-556
- II Mate, R., Johansson, T., Almeida S. (2014). Stem volume equations for valuable timber species in Mozambique. Submitted to *Journal of Sustainable Forestry* (manuscript)

7

Papers I is reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contributions of Rosta Mate to the papers included in this thesis were:

- I Performed approximately 80% of the data collection planning, data gathering, processing and analysis, and paper writing.
- II Performed approximately 80% of the data collection planning, data gathering, processing and analysis, and paper writing.

Abbreviations

- AGB Aboveground Biomass
- DBH Diameter at Breast Height
- DNFFB Direcção Nacional de Florestas e Fauna Bravia "National Directorate of Forestry and Wildlife"
- DNTF Direcção Nacional de Terras e Florestas "National Directorate of Land and Forests"
- FAO Food and Agriculture Organization
- INE Instituto Nacional de Estatística "National Institute of Statistics"
- MAE Ministério da Adminsitração Estatal "Ministry of State Administration"

9

ME Ministry of Energy

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

Forests provide over 9% of the total primary energy supply for cooking and/or heating to more than two billion people worldwide (FAO, 2012). Wood is the main source of fuel for about 80% of people in Africa (FAO, 2010). In Mozambique, 80% of the population lives in rural areas and is heavily dependent on forests for timber, non-timber products (NTFPs), construction materials, medicinal plants, and diverse environmental services such as ecotourism, biodiversity conservation and carbon sequestration (Campbell et al., 2007; Nhacale et al., 2009). However, the world's tropical regions are undergoing rapid deforestation due to the harvesting of fuel wood, the reclamation of land for agricultural purposes, and timber logging (Campell *et al*, 2007; FAO, 2012). Tropical deforestation is currently a major global environmental concern (Geist and Lambin, 2002). Uncertainties regarding the extent of deforestation (Hunter et al. 2013) and the amount of standing biomass remaining (Houghton, 2005) make it difficult to assess tropical forests' effects on carbon stocks and other environmental parameters.

1.2 The Mozambican forest sector

Natural forests with the potential for timber production cover around 51% of Mozambique's land surface (Marzoli, 2007). Its forests contain 118 identified commercial timber species (DNFFB, 2002), of which only 34 are currently harvested and only 10 are well known in the domestic and international markets. The most harvested species are Jambire (*Milletia stuhlmannii*), Chanfuta (*Afzelia quanzensis*), Umbila (*Pterocarpus angolensis*), Pau-preto (*Dalbergia melanoxylon*), Pau-ferro (*Swartzia madagascariensis*), Mecruse

(Androstachys johnsonii), Pau-rosa (Berchemia zeyheri), Monzo (Combretum imberbe), Umbaua (Khaya nyasica) and Tule (Milicia excelsa); more exotic species include Eucalyptus sp. and Pinus sp.

The total commercial timber stock in Mozambique's natural forests is about 1.74 billion m^3 , with an allowable annual cut of 516,000 - 640,000 m^3 (Marzoli, 2007). National statistics from 2001-2012 (DNFFB, 2001-2007; DNTF, 2010-2012) indicate that annual harvested volume is around 40% below the allowable annual level, as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Licensed and harvested timber volumes in Mozambique between 1998 and 2012.

The Mozambican forestry sector is dominated by small-medium scale processing industries that produce material for internal consumption and export (Fath, 2002; DNTF, 2010). The industrial units are located in major cities that provide access to existing markets and infrastructure such as roads and ports. Forest products are among the country's ten most important exports (Alberto, 2006): the forest sector's contribution to Mozambique's exports increased from around 2.6% in 2002 (Alberto, 2006) to 9% in 2007 (Nhancale et al., 2009). The sector also provides direct formal and informal employment to around 600,000 people (Nhancale et al, 2009). Unfortunately, the scope for rigorous analysis of its contribution is limited by a lack of data together with weak control and recording systems (Alberto, 2006).

The country's major timber products are logs or round wood, sawn timber, railway sleepers, poles, parquet blanks (DNTF, 2011) furniture, boxes, doors and window frames, and crafted products (Nhancale et al, 2009). The

production of processed sawn timber as a proportion of the volume of logs harvested has increased from 25% in 1998 to >120% in 2011 (DNFFB 1998-2007; DNTF 2010-2011). Conversely, the volume of timber logs allocated for export as a proportion of the total harvested volume has decreased from around 65% in 2004 to 18% in 2011(DNFFB 2004-2007; DNTF 2010-2012). This increase in the production of processed timber and reduction in the proportion of exported logs was partly due to changes in the regulations governing the forest industry – taxes on log exports were increased and some tree species were reclassified in a way that restricted the export of their logs. However, it was also partially due to the limited technological capabilities of existing sawmills and other industries (DNFFB, 2006).

Mozambique also has planted forests that cover around 62, 0000 ha (FAO, 2010a) and are dominated by the genera *Pinus* and *Eucalyptus*. The Central and Northern regions of the country have the greatest potential for large-scale industrial plantation in terms of soils and climate (DNTF, 2012; Nhantumbo et al., 2013). Most of the existing plantations were established by private sector actors for commercial and energy generation purposes; this is especially true in cases where local communities were involved in the planning of the plantation (DNTF, 2012). However, energy plantations established in the 70s and 80s by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) have collapsed due to high production costs and management problems (Mangue, 2000) as well as the impacts of the country's civil war.

1.3 Energy supplies

Biomass, i.e. firewood and charcoal, accounts for 82% of Mozambique's energy consumption. Electricity accounts for another 13%; the remaining 5% is due to hydrocarbons such as diesel, petroleum fuels, LPG, and natural gas (ME, 2012). In addition, solar energy is used for food drying and conservation as well as lighting. However, its contribution is too small to warrant estimation.

Fuelwoods are mainly obtained by cutting secondary and sometimes primary natural forests (Mangue, 2000; Argola, 2004; Cangela, 2008; Puná, 2008; Sitoe *et al.* 2012). The country's annual fuelwood consumption is 27.8 million m^3 (Sitoe et al., 2007), which is 50 times greater than the average annual allowable cut volume. Fuelwood harvesting and the expansion of agricultural land are estimated to be responsible for the deforestation of 219,000 ha per year, corresponding to 0.58% of the country's total forest cover (Marzoli, 2007). Nhacale et al. (2009) estimated that around 96% of the

country's fuelwood is harvested informally without any licensing and goes unrecorded. The impact of its use is therefore very difficult to estimate. The low incomes and high population growth rates in Southern Africa (Abbot *et al.*, 1997; Abbot and Homewood, 1999; Williams *et al*, 2008), and in Mozambique in particular, mean that the pressure on forests to meet people's needs for agricultural land and energy will increase in future. These regions therefore require alternative energy sources.

More than a third of the timber volume felled in Mozambique is left unutilized due to the use of inefficient logging techniques (Fath, 2001). Such material represents potentially readily available biomass that should be quantified and evaluated to determine its potential uses. This work focuses on the country's three most harvested species, Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila, as potential sources of residual biomass from logging operations that could be mobilized for bioenergy use. While planted forests of fast-growing species also have great potential for the production of energy wood, they are beyond the scope of this investigation.

1.4 Major Mozambican tree species and their distribution

Chanfuta is a medium to large deciduous tree from the Fabaceae-Caesalpinioideae family. It occurs in dry forests, lowland thickets and dry woodlands at altitudes of 0 to 1,800 m a.s.l in regions with a mean annual rainfall of around 1,000 mm (Wyk & Wyk, 1997; DFSC, 2000). In Mozambique, it occurs mainly in the Southern and Central regions, with a total available commercial stock of 2,514,000 m³ (Mackenzie, 2006; Marzoli, 2007). Chanfuta trees are usually up to 15 m tall with a short bole, a wide umbrella shaped crown and large leaves. They prefer deep and well drained sandy soils (Gérard, 2001). The tree provides good shade (DFSC, 2000), produces high quality timber, and is moderately resistant to termites (Gomes e Sousa, 1964). Its wood is hard, heavy, and durable, and is mainly used to produce furniture, building materials and canoes as well as for crafting (Hines & Eckman, 1993). Its basic density is reported to be between 0.692 and 0.781 g cm⁻³–(Bunster, 1995; Mate et al., 2014). The harvesting of Chanfuta trees is permitted once their stem DBH exceeds 50 cm ob (DNFFB, 2002).

Jambire, from the Fabaceae family, is a medium to large deciduous tree that reaches heights of 15 to 25 m with a spreading crown. It is locally dominant (Lemmens, 2008) and is distributed across Mozambique and Eastern Zimbabwe (ECCM, 2005; Marzoli, 2007), commonly growing in bushveld and forests, often on rocky hillsides (Wyk & Wyk, 1997) at altitudes of up to 900m a.s.l in areas with relatively high rainfall (Lemmens, 2008). Its timber is

commonly used for furniture, flooring, the manufacture of musical instruments, inlay work, and in railway sleepers. The unusual configuration of its annual rings gives its flat sawn timber a delicate appearance that is highly appreciated. Its harvesting is permitted once its DBH exceeds 40 cm ob (DNFFB, 2002). The wood is moderately hard with basic densities ranging from 0.558 to 0.841 g cm⁻³ (Bunster, 1995; Mate et al., 2014). Moreover, it is durable and resistant to fungi and termites (WAD, 2005; ECCM, 2005).

Umbila is a medium to large tree that is typically 10 - 20 m tall but may reach heights of 28 m under ideal conditions (Wyk & Wyk, 1997). It belongs to the subfamily Papilionoideae and is distributed over large areas in the Miombo woodlands of central and southern Africa, which extend across Malawi, Mozambique, Zambia, Zimbabwe and Botswana (Therrell et al., 2007; Marzoli, 2007). It grows well on drained sandy soils and also on hillsides at altitudes up to 1650 m a.s.l with 700 to 1500 mm precipitation per year (Orwa et al., 2009). Its wood is used for timber and its reddish brown heartwood makes it to one of the most valuable timber trees in southern tropical Africa (Palgrave, 2002; Stahle et al., 1999). The minimum stem DBH (ob) for harvesting is 40 cm (DNFFB, 2002) and its reported basic densities range from 0.640 to 0.636 g cm⁻³ (Bunster, 1995; Mate et al., 2014). It is resistant to fire and widely used for carving and traditional medicine (Fichtler et al., 2004).

1.4.1 Growth cycles of the studied species

Tropical tree species often produce false, irregular or unclear annual growth rings. Consequently, the estimation of their age is challenging and has occasioned some scientific controversy (Whitmore, 1990; Baker, 2003). However, annual growth rings have been identified and reported in some studies (Chambers et at., 1998; Worbes and Junk, 1999; Stahle *et al.*, 1999; Worbes, 2002; Therrell *et al.*, 2007; Steenkamp *et al.*, 2008; Syampungani *et al.*, 2010; Tshisikhawe *et al.*, 2011 and Remane, 2013). Few age-estimation studies have been conducted in Mozambique, and those that have been reported (Table 1) all used different methodologies, which makes it difficult to compare their results. Sitoe (1997) examined used permanent sample plots (yielding indirect age estimates) whereas Therrell *et al.* (2007), Syampungani *et al.* (2010) and Remane (2013) performed annual growth ring analyses (a direct method). The lack of data on tree age has limited the development of site index curves for the studied species. Site indices are powerful tools for estimating a site's ability to produce high volumes in stands (Johansson, 2006).

Species	Study area	MAI^{1}	Author
		(cm/year)	
Chanfuta	Mozambique	0.13 - 1.79	Schikowski et al. (2010)
Jambire	Mozambique	0.51	Remane (2013)
Jambire	Mozambique	0.38	Sitoe (1997)
Umbila	Mozambique	0.27 - 1.86	Schikowski et al. (2010)
Umbila	Zimbabwe	0.33 - 0.40	Therrell et al. (2007)
Umbila	Zimbabwe	0.30 - 0.41	Stahle <i>et al.</i> (1999)

Table 1. Reported mean annual diameter increments for the studied species

1.MAI stands for mean annual diameter increment

1.5 Biomass and Volume Estimation Methods

Established methods for biomass estimation include: i) destructive direct measurement and ii) non-destructive measurement (indirect estimation). Destructive methods involve tree harvesting, measuring the fresh weights of the trees' individual components (stem, branches, twigs, leaves and roots), drying samples of each component, comparing the fresh and dry masses of the samples, and using the resulting values to estimate the biomass of each component, the tree as a whole, and the biomass per unit land area (GTOS, 2009). This approach is viable for small areas but is quite time-consuming and impractical for larger areas because it makes it impossible to evaluate biomass growth over longer periods of time (Stewart et al. 1992). In contrast, nondestructive methods do not require tree felling (Montés et al., 2000). Based on the sampled tree biomass, the stand biomass is calculated by multiplying the biomass of sampled trees by the average number of trees per unit area (Johansson, 1999). Using remote sensing techniques, stand-level biomass estimates can be scaled up to the landscape level (Case and Hall, 2008; GTOS, 2009).

The tree volume is generally estimated based on tree diameter and height measurements by using specific formulas such as those of Smalian, Hubber, and Newton (Husch *et al.*, 2003) or Hohenadl (da Cunha, 2004). Direct volume measurements are usually made by sectioning a tree into smaller pieces, which are assumed to be cylindrical (Husch *et al.*, 2003). The volume is then expressed in cubic meters as a function of diameter or some combination of diameter and height or commercial length (Husch *et al.*, 2003; Gier, 1992). Equations featuring additional variables such as tree form (Husch *et al.*, 2003), basal area, stem length, site quality or climate can also be used. No taper as well as tree form have been documented for tropical species. In Mozambique, arbitrary form factors of 0.80 and 0.65 have been used to estimate commercial and total volumes, respectively (Marzoli, 2007).

1.6 Challenges of Biomass and Volume Estimates

Accurate estimation of tree volume and biomass is essential for efficient forest management (Gillespie et al, 1992; Návar-Cháidez, 2009, Nur Hajar et al, 2010) because it facilitates the estimation of forest stand productivity, carbon stocks, and the flows of energy and nutrients (Gillespie et al, 1992, Adenkule, 2007, Guendehou et al, 2012) as well as the assessment of the forest's structure and condition (Chavé et al, 2003; Zianis and Mencuccini, 2004). Several volume and biomass equations have been developed for major tree species in Europe (Zianis et al, 2005), Asia and America (Brown 1997; Chavé et al. 2005). However, only a few studies have examined the full range of tropical African species. Most published African studies have focused on tropical rainforest species (Akindele & LeMay 2006; Onyekwelu 2004; Adekunle 2007; Mbaekwe and Mackenzie 2008) and so their results are not applicable to the deciduous and semi-deciduous miombo forest species found in Mozambique.

Miombo forests account for two thirds of Mozambique's forest cover (Marzoli, 2007) and occur in a wide range of climates. Most of the country's miombo forests are in moist tropical regions but they also exist in dry climates and climates modified by altitude (FAO, 2005). The development of appropriate allometric equations is a vital step (Mwakalukwa et al, 2014) in the creation of reliable methods for estimating volume and biomass. Before this work was conducted, no species-specific biomass and volume equations had been reported for Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila. However, generic biomass and volume equations for forest vegetation of the types found in Central Mozambique have been developed by Tchaúque (2004) and Marzoli (Marzoli, 2007) respectively. Tchaúque (2004) created a biomass equation, while Marzoli (2007) reported a volume equation for forest stock estimates. In addition, Machoco (2008) and Tomo (2012) published biomass expansion factors and biomass and carbon estimates for different vegetation types in Central Mozambique, although neither author presented any species-specific data.

Despite the apparent validity of generic allometric equations, trees' allometric relationships are expected to depend on environmental factors (e.g., soil and climate) and the functional characteristics of individual species such as their wood density and crown architecture (Chavé et al., 2005, 2009; Henry et al., 2010; Vieilledent et al, 2010). Moreover, existing biomass estimates for Mozambique have been obtained by direct conversion of volume data due to the limited availability of primary biomass data. Most tree volume estimates are in turn obtained from forest inventories based on measurements of diameter and height. Such measurements exclude the crown volume and the volume of

the branches. This is a problem because woodland species allocate more than 50% of their woody biomass to branches (Geldenhuys and Goldings, 2008). As such, biomass estimates based on stem volumes alone will substantially underestimate the total tree biomass. It is therefore important to develop equations that will provide improved estimates for the most heavily harvested timber species to promote the efficient use of Mozambique's forest resources.

2 Objectives

The overall objective of this work was to provide improved estimates of the standing volume and aboveground biomass stock of Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila species in Mozambique. Such data will provide a more accurate picture of the country's forest resources than is available at present. The specific objectives were to:

- Develop species-specific total aboveground biomass equations (Paper I)
- Develop species-specific stem volume equations (Paper II)
- Evaluate the potential of logging residues from the studied species for use in applications such as bioenergy generation (Papers I&II).

2.1 Structure of the Work

This thesis is based on two papers dealing with biomass equations (Paper I) and stem volume equations (Paper II), respectively. The conceptual framework of the thesis is outlined below:



Paper I presents equations that enable accurate biomass estimates for individual tree components (stems, branches and leaves) and describes the quantification of biomass and biomass allocation within the studied species.

Paper II presents equations that enable accurate volume estimates for the three studied species as well as estimates of the volumes of timber and residual stock that could be obtained. Such estimates will make it possible to ensure that Mozambique's demands for energy and timber can be met in a way that minimizes the need for further forest clearance.

3 Material and methods

3.1 Study Areas and Data used for Equation Development

The study was carried out in the Southern and Central regions of Mozambique, in the Inhambane and Sofala Provinces respectively (Papers I and II), Figure 1. The studied stands in Sofala province were located within a 'forest concession' in Cheringoma District, Inhaminga locality, at 18°58' S and 34°10' E. The area has an average rainfall of 1000-1100 mm/year (MAE, 2005a) and is dominated by yellowish or reddish oxisols (Mafalacusser and Marques, 2000; MAE, 2005a; Mafalacusser, 2013). The studied stands in Inhambane province were located at the Mavume and Tome localities in Funhalouro District, at 23°52' S and 35°23' E (MAE, 2005b). This region has a tropical savannah climate with an average annual rainfall of 500-800 mm and mainly has deep sandy soils (MAE, 2005b). The studied stands at Mavume and Tome are located in public forests managed by the Provincial Forestry Authority. The study areas were chosen based on the occurrence of the species of interest (Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila) as reported by Marzoli (2007), and the accessibility of the sites throughout the year.



Figure 2. Geographic locations of the studied areas

A total of 58 trees were sampled to facilitate the development of aboveground biomass (AGB) and stem volume equations for three targeted species. Table 2 provides details concerning the locations of the studied stands and the characteristics of the species growing within them.

22

lot no.	Locality	Lat. S	Long. E	DBH, cm	Height, m	Dominant vegetation
				$Mean \pm SD$	Mean \pm SD	
				Chanfuta		
	Inhaminga	18°15'	35°15'	60.5 ± 27.0	14.4 ± 6.9	Dense deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°01'	35°17'	43.6 ± 0	18.6 ± 0	Dense deciduous
	Inhaminga	17° 99'	35°19'	61.1 ± 0	20.6 ± 0	Dense deciduous
0	Inhaminga	18°74'	35°86'	60.0 ± 9.0	17.5 ± 2.1	Ticket
5	Inhaminga	17°99'	35°15'	35.4 ± 0	15.0 ± 0	Ticket
2	Inhaminga	18°08'	35°11'	22.3 ± 15.8	9.6 ± 3.7	Open deciduous
9	Inhaminga	18°23'	35°13'	48.4 ± 0	15.8 ± 0	Open deciduous
3	Inhaminga	18°09'	35°25'	38.5 ± 0	20.9 ± 0	Open evergreen
02	Inhaminga	18°40'	35°14'	41.4 ± 0	19.6 ± 0	Open evergreen
)1	Inhaminga	17°99'	35°15'	51.0 ± 0	22.1 ± 0	Open deciduous
2	Inhaminga	18°10'	35°08'	44.6 ± 1.0	17.0 ± 1.7	Open deciduous
3	Inhaminga	18°17'	35°05'	39.6 ± 5.6	13.2 ± 1.6	Dense evergreen
	Mavume	22°34'	34°11'	21.0 ± 0	9.0 ± 0	Dry deciduous
	Mavume	23°27'	34°31'	30.1 ± 9.1	11.4 ± 1.8	Dry deciduous
	Tome	22°34'	34°11'	21.0 ± 0	12.0 ± 0	Dry deciduous
	Tome	22°34'	34°11'	18.5 ± 0	7.5 ± 0	Dry deciduous
	Tome	22°34'	34°11'	20.8 ± 10.5	7.5 ± 0	Dry deciduous
	Tome	22°35'	34°11'	21.0 ± 0	9.5 ± 0	Dry deciduous
	Tome	22°35'	34°12'	29.0 ± 11.5	11.5 ± 1.8	Dry deciduous
	Tome	22°35'	34°11'	21.6 ± 6.5	11 ± 1.9	Dry deciduous
	Tome	22°33'	34°11'	34.1 ± 10.0	14.2 ± 1.1	Dry deciduous
				Jambire		
	Inhaminga	18°50'	35°08'	25.2 ± 0	14.0 ± 0	Dense deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°06'	35°15'	28.8 ± 2.0	16.3 ± 1.8	Dense deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°09'	35°09'	41.2 ± 5.5	21.8 ± 6.2	Dense deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°05'	35°09'	25.7 ± 6.8	15.5 ± 4.5	Dense deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°07'	35°09'	35.0 ± 0	16.0 ± 0	Dense deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°05'	35°16'	31.8 ± 0	18.8 ± 0	Dense deciduous
	Inhaminga	17°99'	35°15'	38.2 ± 0	13 ± 0	Dense deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°05'	35°06'	16.2 ± 0	7.0 ± 0	Ticket
	Inhaminga	18°09'	35°11'	26.9 ± 12.7	17.6 ± 2.8	Ticket
	Inhaminga	18°14'	35°08'	34.1 ± 1.4	13 ± 1.4	Open deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°20'	35°12'	32.5 ± 0	12.9 ± 0	Open deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°24'	35°13'	42.4 ± 0	16.3 ± 0	Open deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°21'	35°10'	21.5 ± 2	14.9 ± 1.3	Open deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°23'	35°13'	23.7 ± 9.9	10.1 ± 4.8	Open deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°13'	35°09'	65.0 ± 0	13 ± 0	Open deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°21'	35°11'	25.6 ± 6.5	18.2 ± 0.7	Open deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°09'	35°25'	55.1 ± 0	19.5 ± 0	Open evergreen
1	Inhaminga	18°01'	35°08'	33.4 ± 27.0	15.5 ± 6.4	Dense deciduous
1	Inhaminga	17°59'	35°09'	34.3 ± 8.9	17.3 ± 2.6	Open deciduous
2	Inhaminga	18°10'	35°08'	36.5 ± 5.1	16.9 ± 6.8	Open deciduous
	Marin	22027	240202	Umbila	10.2 + 2.1	$O_{max}/I_{max}I \rightarrow I$
	Mavume	23°37'	34°29'	20.6 ± 7.3	10.3 ± 3.1	Open/dry deciduous
	Mavume	23°37'	34°30'	24.3 ± 7.6	9.8 ± 3.3	Open/dry deciduous
	Mavume	23°37'	34°30'	24.6 ± 10.4	11.2 ± 2.5	Open/dry deciduous
	Mavume	23°37'	34°30'	28.0 ± 13.2	8 ± 3.1	Open/ dry deciduous
	Mavume	23°37'	34°30'	22.8 ± 18.0	6.9 ± 1.6	Open/dry deciduous
	Mavume	23°37'	34°37'	22.5 ± 7.8	8.5 ± 2.8	Open/dry deciduous
	Mavume	23°37'	34°30'	25.0 ± 12.7	10.5 ± 5.7	Open/dry deciduous
	Mavume	23°37'	34°30'	27.5 ± 3.5	7.9 ± 4.7	Open/dry deciduous
	Mavume	23°37'	34°30'	21.6 ± 9.9	8.2 ± 2.3	Open/dry deciduous
3	Mavume	23°37'	34°30'	12.6 ± 1.3	6.3 ± 0.6	Open/dry deciduous
)	Mavume	23°37'	34°30'	16.0 ± 0.0	6.5 ± 0	Open/dry deciduous
1	Mavume	23°37'	35°30'	22.8 ± 5.5	7.7 ± 1.2	Open/dry deciduous
5	Inhaminga	18°25'	35°13'	25.5 ± 0.0	12.0 ± 0	Open deciduous
5)	Inhaminga	18°20'	35°12'	14.3 ± 0.0	8.5 ± 0	Open deciduous
	Inhaminga	18°14'	35°07'	46.5 ± 0.0	12.0 ± 0	Open deciduous

Table 2. Location and characteristics of trees growing in the visited stands

3.2 Sampling Design and Sampling Units

To provide an accurate representation of the species diversity within the study areas, a total of 90 plots were defined randomly. The limitations of the region's road infrastructure and heavy rain meant that only 57 of these plots could be surveyed: 36 in Inhaminga, 14 in Mavume and 7 in Tome (Papers I and II). Each plot covered 100 m \times 20 m based on previous studies conducted in Mozambique (Cuambe and Marzoli, 2006). Plots were demarcated using sticks and ropes. The diameter at breast height (DBH) and height (total and commercial) was recorded for all trees within the plots whose DBH was 10 cm or more (Cuambe and Marzoli, 2006). Trees forked below 1.3 m were excluded and those with forks above 1.3 m were measured separately. No samples were collected for age determination due to the difficulty of identifying annual rings and the need to use sophisticated methods to obtain reliable age estimates. Therefore, to avoid errors, age was not used as a variable.

3.3 Biomass and Stem Volume Measurements

A total of 58 trees were harvested to facilitate the development of biomass and stem volume equations: 24 Chanfuta trees, 15 Jambire, and 19 Umbila. The forest operators stipulated that no more than one sample tree from each plot could be used for biomass and volume measurement. Sampled trees were healthy, undamaged, and non-forked, with fairly straight stems. DBH was measured using callipers while height was measured using Haglöf Vertex 3 or 4 hypsometers. The commercial height was measured from the base of the stem to the first living branch. After all of the necessary measurements had been made in the field and recorded, Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila stems were identified and marked. The mean DBH per species per plot and stem quality indicators (e.g. straightness, health) were systematically used to identify sample trees to be felled. The stump height was defined at 20 cm above ground before the tree was felled.

Most of the trees had umbrella-shaped crowns with no readily-identified natural top, which made it difficult to unambiguously determine which branch in the crown corresponded to the main stem. This problem was solved by assuming that the crown branch whose direction of growth most closely matched that of the main stem below the branching point represented the continuation of the main stem (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Identification of the main stem direction match

Having identified the main stem, all of the branches were numbered (Figure 4a) and removed from the stem. The total stem length was recorded and the stem was divided into five sections by cutting it at 10%, 30%, 50%, 70% and 90% of its total length (Figure 4b). The length, top diameter, and bottom diameter of each section was recorded and used to estimate its volume based on Smalian's formula (II:5). Additional diameter measurements were taken at the base of the stem and at a height of 1.3 m. The volume of the top section (i.e. the part of the tree above the 90% cutting point) was estimated using the formula for a cone (II:6). The total over bark (ob) stem volume was obtained by summing the volumes of each individual stem section (II:7).



Figure 4. Numbering of branches (a) and the cutting of the stem into sections (b)

The fresh weights of the stem and branch sections were then measured. Sample disks (10-15 cm) were collected from the mid-point of each stem section and at a height of 1.3 m for dry weight estimation. The average number of branches

per tree was five; three from the middle of the crown of each tree were sampled for dry weight determination. In addition, the total fresh weight of leaves was recorded and samples of 30 to 50 leaves were taken from different levels of the crown. The stumps were not accounted for in the AGB measurements because it is recommended that they should be left in place for coppice management in Mozambique. All collected subsamples were taken to a laboratory where their dry weight, moisture content, and basic wood density (g cm⁻³) were determined. To this end, the sub-samples were oven dried to constant weight at 103 °C–105 °C (Brown and Lugo, 1992; Parresol, 1999; Pearson et al., 2005; Johansson, 2011). Their basic density was then estimated using the standard water-immersion method described by Andersson and Tuimala (1980). AGB, moisture content (MC), and basic wood density were determined using equations I:2 and I:7. Table 3 lists the equations used to calculate the various parameters discussed in the preceding paragraphs.

Parameters	Formulas	Paper and Equation
Dry Mass, Kg	$Dry\ mass = \frac{sdw}{sfw} \times fwC$	I:1
Moisture Content, %	$MC = \frac{fw - dw}{fw}$	I:2
Basic Density, $g cm^{-3}$	$Bd = \frac{M}{V}$	I:7
Basal Area, m ²	$BA = \left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right) \times D^2$	II:4
Volume of Stem Sections, $m^3 V_s$	$= \left(\left(\frac{(BA_1 + BA_2)}{2} \right) \times L \right)$	II:5
Volume of the Top Section, m^3	$V_{top} = {\binom{BA}{3}} \times L$	II:6
Total Volume, m ³	$V_{total} = \sum (V_s) + V_{top}$	II:7

Table 3. Used formulas for the biomass and volume estimates

where:

Sdw = dry weight of sub-sample (g); Sfw = fresh weight of sub-sample (g); fwC = fresh weight of component; fw = fresh weight (g); dw = oven-dry weight (g); M: Dry weight of stem or branch sample (g)-; BA = cross-sectional area of stem at base (m²); <math>V: Fresh volume of stem or branch sample (cm³);

D=diameter, cm at 0%, 10%, 1.3 m, 30%, 50%, 70% and 90%; L = length of section, m.

3.3.1 Biomass and Stem Volume Equations

Linear, polynomial, exponential, logarithmic and power equations were fitted to the measured and estimated data to characterize the relationship between the aboveground biomass and the DBH, height, and basic density. The non-linear power equation performed well and was therefore investigated further. Nonlinear equations have previously been shown to yield good results for predictions of this sort (Kittredge, 1944; Návar, 2010; Návar-Cháidez et al., 2013) and have also been used successfully to predict stem volumes (Cao et al., 1980; Lumbres and Lee, 2013; Tewari et al., 2013). The stem volume was modelled as a function of DBH alone and DBH with height. The biomass and stem volume equations used for model fitting are presented in Table 4.

Table 4. Tested biomass and stem volume equations for the three studied species

Equations	Paper and Equation									
Biomass										
$AGB = \beta_0 D^{\beta_1}$	I:3									
$AGB = \beta_0 D^{\beta_1} \beta_2 Bd$	I:4									
$AGB = \beta_0 (BdDH)^{\beta_1}$	I:5									
$AGB = (\beta_0 + \beta_1 Bd)D^{\beta_2}$	I:6									
Stem Volum	0e									
$V = \beta_0 D^{\beta_1}$	II:1									
$V = \beta_0 D^2 H$	II:2									
$V = \beta_0 D^{\beta_1} H^{\beta_2}$	II:3									
$V = \beta_0 D^2 H^{\beta_1}$	II:4									

where:

AGB = Aboveground biomass, kg d.w. tree⁻¹; D = DBH over bark (ob), mm; Bd = Basic density, g cm⁻³; H = Tree height, m. β_0 , β_1 and β_2 are parameters.

The most common procedure for validating biomass and stem volume equations is to test them against an independent dataset (Kozak & Kozak, 2003). However, this was not possible for the biomass equation in this case due to the limited number of available stands. The volume models were therefore validated using a "leave-one-out cross-validation". The entire dataset was left out one at a time and the parameters were estimated for the reduced dataset. Similar procedures for model validation in the context of growth equations have been used by Zhang (1993), Nord-Larsen et al. (2009) and Webb and Copsey (2011).

3.4 Merchantable Stem Volume Estimates

According to Burkhart (1977), Alemdag (1988), and Barrio Anta et al. (2007) the merchantable volume ratio can be estimated based on a tree's top diameter and height limits. An alternative method is to use taper equations to predict the diameter at any stem height. However, neither volume ratios nor taper functions have been established for the native forest species of Mozambique (Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila). We therefore estimated merchantable volumes using data on the dimensions of Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila logs harvested by forest operators working in two concession areas in Sofala Province between 2004 and 2011 (Paper II). The average dimensions (diameter and height) of the logs were compared to the field data gathered in the present study to derive expressions for estimating merchantable stem volume and potential residual volume, which is not calculated by most existing tools for biomass estimation in Mozambican tree species.

3.5 Statistical Analysis for Biomass and Volume Equations

Statistical analysis was conducted using the non-linear regression procedure of the SAS/STAT system for personal computers (SAS, 2006). Assessments of best fit for biomass equations were performed using the coefficient of determination (R²) (Zar, 1999), average bias, (AB), average absolute bias (AAB), root mean square error (RMSE) and residual plots. AAB was used because Parresol *et al.* (1987) found that it clearly discriminated between a set of similar equations. Some additional parameters were considered when assessing the stem volume equations, namely the *Residual Standard Error (RSE)* and *Akaike Information Criterion (AIC)* (Akaike, 1974; Burnham and Anderson, 2002; Chavé et al., 2005). The formulas used to calculate these statistical parameters are presented in Table 5.

The calculation of the AIC depended on the *maximum likelihood "L" value*, *number of parameters (p) and sample size* (II:11). The maximum likelihood "L" was calculated based on the formula of Xiao et al. (2011), (II:10). An overall ranking analysis was used to find the "best" stem volume equation (Cao et al., 1980 and Figueiredo-Filho et al., 1996). In this analysis, the highest rank of 1 was assigned to the models with the highest R^2 value and the lowest AB, ABB and RMSE values. The quality of the stem volume equations was estimated using the AIC and RSE; in both cases, lower values indicate a better model fit and thus a higher rank (Chavé et al., 2005). The model with the best fit was deemed to be that with the highest overall rank with respect to all of the chosen statistical parameters.

Parameters		Paper and equation
Coefficient of Determination	$R^2 = 1 - [SSE/SST (No. observations)]$	I:8 & II:5
Sum of Square Errors	SSE is $\sum_{i=1}^{n} (w_i - \overline{w}_i)^2$	I:9
Sum of Total Squares	SST is $\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (w_i - \hat{w}_i)^2$	I:9
Root Mean Square Error	$\text{RMSE} = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(w - \hat{w}_i)^2}{n}}$	I:10 & II:8
Average Bias	$AB = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (v_i - \hat{v}_i)$	I:1 & II:6
Average Absolute Bias	$AAB = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} v_i - \hat{v}_i $	I:12 & II:7
Residual Standard Error	RSE = $\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (v_i - \hat{v}_i)^2 / \sqrt{n}$	II:9
Likelihood	$\mathbf{L} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[1/\sqrt{(2\pi\sigma^2) EXP(-SSE/2\sigma^2)} \right]$	II:10
Akaike Information Criterion	$AIC = \frac{2k - 2 * Log(L) + \frac{2k(k+1)}{(n-k-1)}}{2k(k+1)}$	II:11

Table 5. Parameters used for the statistical analysis of biomass and stem volume equations

4 Results

4.1 Stand Characteristics in the studied Localities

In total, 1,116 different trees were found in the study area and measured to determine their DBH, total height, and commercial height. Species identification was possible for 762 of these but the remaining 354 could not be identified by local people or botanists. The 11.4 ha sampled area (57 plots) contained at least 48 different tree species, 34 of which belonged to the *Fabaceae* family. The most abundant species, *Brachystegia spiciformis*, is a typical miombo species and was present at a density of 725 stems ha⁻¹ (Papers I and II).

The studied stands contained 155 trees belonging to the chosen species: 48 Chanfuta, 55 Jambire and 52 Umbila. The stem densities at the Tome, Inhaminga and Mavume localities were 147 stems ha⁻¹, 119 stems ha⁻¹, and 104 stems ha⁻¹, respectively. Other species accounted for 89 %, 79 %, and 67 %, respectively, of the total tree count in the stands at these three localities. The somewhat haphazard species distribution within the studied area and the use of randomly allocated plots may have influenced the recorded species types. The sites exhibited considerable species variability – while Chanfuta was found at all three sites, Jambire and Umbila were not. The Inhaminga site tended to have larger trees than Mavume and Tome. Table 6 lists the abundance and characteristics of the 3 studied species at the Inhaminga, Mavume and Tome sites.

Species	Stems ha ⁻¹	DBII, cm		Height, m		Commercia	Basal area, m² ha ⁻¹	
	$Mean \pm SD$	$Mean \pm SD$	Range	$Mean \pm SD$	Range	$Mean \pm SD$	Range	Mean ± SD
				Inhaminga				
Chanfuta	8 ± 4	44.4 ± 13.7	11.1–79.6	16.3 ± 4.1	7.0-22.1	5.8 ± 1.6	3.0 - 9.0	1.32 ± 0.87
Jambire	13 ± 12	31.2 ± 11.4	13.4-65.0	15.8 ± 4.4	6.0-28,9	4.9 ± 3.3	0.8 - 18.8	1.13 ± 0.93
Umbila	5 ± 0	28.8 ± 16.3	14.3-46.5	10.8 ± 2.0	8.5-12.0	3.6 ± 1.5	2.0 - 5.0	0.39 ± 0.40
Others	93 ± 55	23.0 ± 14.3	7.6-129.6	10.1 ± 3.7	3.0-25.1	3.0 ± 1.5	0.0 - 10.5	5.35 ± 3.98
				Mavume				
Chanfuta	15 ± 14	28.6 ± 9.0	17.2-42.5	10.9 ± 1.9	8.8-13.2	7.0 ± 3.4	4.0 - 12.4	1.04 ± 1.23
Umbila	20 ± 14	22.8 ± 9.6	10.0-44.5	8.8 ± 2.9	3.8-16.2	4.0 ± 1.7	0.5 - 8.5	0.98 ± 0.84
Others	69 ± 73	19.8 ± 8.1	10.0-49.0	6.6 ± 2.0	2.0-14.0	1.9 ± 1.2	0.0 - 5.5	2.58 ± 2.06
				Tome				
Chanfuta	17 ± 16	25.9 ± 9.6	13.5-48.0	11.5 ± 2.6	7.5-5.5	6.1 ± 5.2	1.0 - 14.8	3.42 ± 1.22
Others	$130~\pm~83$	17.4 ± 8.6	10.0-54.0	7.2 ± 2.8	3.0-15.0	2.2 ± 1.1	0.0 - 6.0	3.83 ± 1.47

Table 6. Characteristics of trees species growing in stands at Inhaminga, Mavume and Tome, expressed as average values \pm standard deviation (SD) and ranges.

4.2 Biomass and Stem Volume Estimates

The total biomass per unit area was 11.8, 9.9, and 4.1 tons ha⁻¹ for Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila, respectively. The studied species varied in their total AGB and their allocation of biomass across different tree fractions. Jambire trees had the highest mean dry weight (1016 ± 438 kg tree⁻¹, range 411-2086), followed by Chanfuta (864 ± 548 , range 107-2018) and Umbila (321 ± 240 , range 52-1121) (Tables 3 and 4, Paper I). The three species also differed with respect to their allocation of biomass for Jambire but only 54% for Chanfuta. Conversely, the bulk of the biomass of Umbila trees was allocated to the branches, which accounted for 51% of the total ABG, compared to only 46% for the stems. Leaves accounted for a small proportion of the biomass of the studied species – around 3%, 1%, and 3% for Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila respectively.

The moisture content of the species varied from 52 to 56% for stems, 46 to 51% for branches, and 29 to 50% for leaves. The species also differed with respect to basic wood density: Jambire had the highest mean (0.850 g cm⁻³) followed by Chanfuta and Umbila at 0.781 and 0.643 g cm⁻³, respectively. In general the total AGB and the biomass of stems and branches tended to

increase with the DBH. Figure 5 shows the biomass distributions of the studied tree species.



Figure 5. Biomass (kg tree⁻¹) plotted as a function of DBH for whole trees ($-- \bullet$), stems ($---\bullet$), branches ($----\bullet$) and leaves ($----\bullet$) based on samples of Chanfuta (a), Jambire (b), and Umbila (c)

Based on the sampled trees, the mean estimated stem volumes for Chanfuta, Jambire, and Umbila were 0.827 m³, 0.626 m³, and 0.372 m³, respectively (Table 2, Paper II). Interestingly, this is not the same as the DBH order: Jambire had the greatest DBH but Chanfuta had a higher stem volume. The estimated commercial stem lengths for each species as a proportion of the total tree length ranged from 30 - 70%, corresponding to mean commercial stem lengths of 6, 4 and 4 m for Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila, respectively. The proportions of trees whose commercial lengths were less than or equal to 30%, 50%, and 70% of their total stem height were 63%, 21% and 12%, respectively, for Chanfuta; 60%, 27% and 13% for Jambire; and 32%, 58% and 11% for Umbila (Paper II). Based on those findings it was assumed that 50% of the stem will be of commercial value. The potential residual stem volumes for Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila were estimated to: 0.414, 0.313 and 0.186 m³ tree⁻¹, respectively. By combining these values with the biomasses of the branches and leaves, total residual biomass values of 3.5, 3.8 and 1.6 dry tons ha⁻¹ were estimated for the three species, respectively.

We also analysed the diameters and lengths of Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila logs harvested in two concessions: "Indústria Madeireira de Moçambique, IMM" and "Inchope Madeiras". The average lengths of logs from all three species were around 3 meters and thus differed from the average commercial lengths estimated in this work. The average measured diameters, lengths, and volumes for each species are listed in Table 7.

Species		Diame	eter, cm		Lengtl	h, m	Observed log volume, m ³		
	Base		Тор		_				
	Mean±SD	Range	Mean±SD	Range	Mean ± SD	Range	Mean ± SD	Range	
Chanfuta	46 ± 0.1	20 - 112	41 ± 0.1	16 - 105	3.1 ± 1.1	1.4 - 7.6	0.500 ± 0.372	0.052 - 2.147	
Jambire	39 ± 1	15 - 77	35 ± 0	19 - 72	3.7 ± 1.1	1.4 - 8.0	0.424 ± 0.224	0.063 - 2.010	
Umbila	44 ± 2	30 - 70	40 ± 3	27 - 87	3.0 ± 0.6	2.1 - 4.4	0.402 ± 0.154	0.181 - 0.920	

Table 7. Characterization of harvested logs from two concession areas in Mozambique

4.3 Data Fitting and Selection of Best Fit Equations

The power equation (I:3) fitted the AGB data best and was thus most capable of explaining the relationship between AGB and DBH. Power equations also yielded the highest coefficients of determination for the three tree species, especially for total AGB and stem volume ($R^2 > 0.89$), indicating that these models fitted the data well. Their R^2 values for branch biomass were slightly lower, ranging from 0.69 to 0.79. While the equation for the leaf biomass of Chanfuta trees had a comparatively low R^2 value (0.40), those for Jambire and Umbila leaf biomass performed quite well ($R^2 = 0.72$ and 0.71, respectively). These models had positive bias (AB) values, indicating underestimation of the chosen predictors, especially for Jambire and Umbila.

There was a large difference between the AAB and RMSE values for the Chanfuta equations but not for Jambire and Umbila. This indicates that there was substantial variation in the error values for the sample trees. Summary statistics for the fitting of the power equation to the AGB data for Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila are presented in Table 8.

34

Components	Parameters	AB	AAB	R^2	RMSE
	Chanfi	ıta			
Total	$3.1256 \times D^{1.5833}$	-10.6	159.8	0.97	194.37
Stem	$0.4369 \times D^{2.0033}$	-20.0	171.6	0.91	227.90
Branches	22.7577 × D ^{0.7335}	-0.1	15.0	0.79	168.19
Leaves	19.9625 × D ^{-0.0836}	2.1	13.2	0.40	19.14
	Jambi	re			
Total	$5.7332 \times D^{1.4567}$	49.5	250.0	0.95	256.83
Stem	$4.8782 \times D^{1.4266}$	43.5	217.6	0.94	220.25
Branches	$0.3587 \times D^{1.8091}$	10.3	90.7	0.78	142.48
Leaves	$77.0114 \times D^{-0.5511}$	-0.7	6.3	0.72	4.09
	Umbi	la			
Total	$0.2201 \times D^{2.1574}$	9.6	103.8	0.89	140.69
Stem	0.0083 × D ^{2.8923}	-1.6	23.1	0.95	51.43
Branches	2.3596 × D ^{1.2690}	3.7	96.0	0.69	120.68
Leaves	$4.0400 \times D^{0.1680}$	0.0	3.3	0.71	4.71

 Table 8. Statistical parameters of the fitted aboveground biomass equations for Chanfuta,

 Jambire, and Umbila

Four different stem volume power equations were fitted to the volume data, using either DBH alone or DBH and height as explanatory variables. All four equations yielded good statistical fits to the data, with R^2 values of ≥ 0.81 . However, the equations differed with respect to their RSE, RSME, bias (AB and AAB) and AIC values. The difference between AAB and RSME was large for Chanfuta, indicating substantial variation in the errors for the sample tree volume estimates. The bias (AB) was generally low and positive for all species, indicating that the predictor equations may slightly underestimate the biomass of Umbila and slightly overestimate that for Chanfuta and Jambire. After computing the various statistical parameters and weighing them against one-another using an overall rank approach, it was found that the observed variation in stem volumes was best explained by treating stem volume as a function of both DBH and height (Paper II: Equation 3) (Table 9).

 Table 9. Statistical parameters for the four tested volume equations for Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila

P	arameters	SE	R ²	RSE	RMSE (m ³)	AB (m ³)	AAB (m ³)	RMSE ¹ (m ³)	AIC	Overa rank
					Chanfuta					
					Equation (1					
β ₀	0.001270	0.001180	0.93	0.053	0.265	0.020	0.208	0.265	4.97	4
β1	1.807100	0.241800								
					Equation (2))				
β ₀	0.000036	0.0000015	0.96	0.038	0.193	0.056	0.147	0.194	4.64	2
					Equation (3))				
β	0.000101	0.000084	0.97	0.035	0.183	-0.001	0.118	0.182	5.51	1
β1	1.655500	0.142000								
β2	1.107900	0.233300								
					Equation (4))				
β ₀	0.000033	0.000024	0.96	0.038	0.193	0.050	0.144	0,198	5.03	3
β_1	1.0338	0.2580								
					Jambire					
					Equation (1))				
β ₀	0.006440	0.015000	0.81	0.085	0.343	-0.001	0.237	0.344	4.39	4
β_1	1.287800	0.637700								
					Equation (2))				
β	0.000036	0.0000027	0.92	0.053	0.207	0.033	0.154	0.207	4.30	2
					Equation (3)					
β ₀	0.000353	0.000555	0.94	0.049	0.205	-0.002	0.131	0.206	6.05	1
β1	1.429100	0.380700								
β2	0.937100	0.199900								
					Equation (4)				121222	
β	0.000898	0.000500	0.93	0.043	0.209	0.030	0.159	0.209	5.00	3
β ₁	0.9114	0.1990								
					Umbila					
					Equation (1))				
β ₀	0.000037	0.000053	0.91	0.033	0.148	0.018	0.108	0.149	4.52	4
β	2.706900	0.394900								
					Equation (2))				
β	0.000045	0.0000013	0.99	0.013	0.058	-0.011	0.036	0.058	3.95	3
1					Equation (3,)				
Bo	0.000009	0.000004	0.99	0.009	0.045	0.009	0.033	0.044	5.39	1
β1	2.262900	0.097800								
β2	1.256500	0.117900								
					Equation (4))				
β	0.000022	0.000007	0.99	0.012	0.052	-0.012	0.034	0.052	4.50	2
β ₁	1.3012	0.1352								

1 Cross validation "Leave-one-out" procedure
5 Discussion

The visited stands were found to contain Chanfuta, Jambire, and Umbila even though an earlier forest inventory report indicated that some of them did not contain these species (Marzoli, 2007). This may be due to the low sampling intensity of earlier forest inventories, the use of different sampling methods and strategies, the examination of different sampling sites, or the haphazard distribution of the studied species. Regardless of the cause, the results presented herein suggest that earlier inventories are more useful as generalized descriptions of species distributions rather than sources of site- and speciesspecific data. In addition, the density of the three targeted species in the studied areas was low. This is consistent with the findings of Fath (2001), who pointed out that Mozambican natural forests are rich in biodiversity but are dominated by low stock levels of commercial species and low increment wood biomass.

Tree age data are not generally available in Mozambique. Therefore, no site productivity index values could be calculated for the studied localities. Based on reference growth rates (Table 1), the applied cutting cycle of 40 years seems to be somewhat short because the studied species may need 75-100 years of growth to reach the minimum allowable cut diameter. Small wood biomass increments in Mozambican forests were previously reported by Fath (2001). It will therefore be necessary to obtain more reliable age estimates for Mozambican trees in order to support sustainable forest management in this country.

The present study showed that the studied species allocated biomass differently among their various tree fractions. While stems accounted for the bulk of the AGB in Chanfuta and Jambire, the branches accounted for the majority in Umbila. Branches accounted for 43% and 22% of the total biomass in Chanfuta and Jambire, but 51% in Umbila. This allocation was unexpected for miombo woodland tree species. Geldenhuys and Goldings (2008) argued that branch biomass normally accounts for more than 50% of the timber of trees

growing on forest land. Moreover, it has been suggested that site conditions influence the distribution of biomass between tree fractions (Segura and Kanninen, 2005; Chamshama et al., 2004; Abbot et al., 1997; Nelson et al., 1999). The localities differed with respect to tree sizes: trees at Inhaminga tended to have larger DBH values than those in Tome and Mavume. Inhaminga is located in a region with a growth rate of 1.2 m³ ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ whereas Mavume and Tome are in drier regions with growth rates of 0.6 m³ ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (Marzoli 2007). Competition for light and space in dense forests limits the development of large branches more than in open forests (Segura and Kanninen, 2005; Murali et al., 2005). The average annual rainfall at Inhaminga is 1000 mm whereas that at Mavume and Tome is below 800mm; this difference is associated with a change in the dominant vegetation (Table 2). Site conditions may also have influenced the trees' growth rates, sizes, and biomass distributions, causing differences both between and within species. Anthropogenic activities, harvesting and forest fires have all been identified as driving forces of changes in the structure and composition of miombo forests (Ribeiro et al., 2008). In this context, it is noteworthy that all of the sampled areas had been subject to timber harvesting in the past. Further studies will be needed to identify driving factors that influence biomass distribution in different forest types with different environmental factors.

The species-specific volume estimation methods developed in this work provided more accurate estimates than were obtained using the generic formula recommended by Marzoli (2007). The three entry variable equation of Marzoli (2007) overestimated stem volumes by 37%, 13% and 9% for Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila, respectively. The stem volume estimation method developed in this work proved to be suitable for tropical tree species with multi-branched crowns, although gathering the data needed to use the equations is somewhat laborious and time-consuming. However, the formula of Marzoli (2007) has a major drawback in that it uses an arbitrary form factor; no such form factors have been determined for Mozambique and there are no established methods for their estimation in this country.

5.1 Biomass and Stem Volume Equations

While DBH alone was the best predictor variable for AGB estimation (Paper I), it did not yield good results for the stem volume. However, the inclusion of height as an additional variable greatly improved the performance of the stem volume models (Paper II). The fitted AGB and stem volume equations exhibited determination coefficients (R^2) in excess of 0.70, indicating that the fitted models fitted the data well. Predictions of the total AGB and stem

fraction biomass are more stable than those of more short-lived branches and leaves (Návar 2009). While attempts were made to gather all of the leaves from the felled trees that were measured in this work, the trees' large crowns made it difficult to find leaves that landed some distance from the felling site. The observation that the predictions of the stem volume were improved by including height as a variable in the model is consistent with previous findings (Brown et al., 1989; Abbot et al., 1997; Chavé et al., 2005; Berhe, 2009; Mni and O.,2010; Fonweban et al., 2012). However, the accurate indirect measurement of height is challenging and this may limit the general applicability of models in which it appears as a variable (Kanime and Laamanen, 2002; Dorado et al., 2006; Sharma and Parton; 2007).

The inclusion of the basic density as a variable in the equations for total AGB and the biomass of other tree fractions only yielded predictive improvements for the total AGB of Umbila ($R^2 = 0.95-0.97$, RMSE = 88–147). However, it also increased the average bias of the model and was therefore excluded from further consideration. Biomass models that use basic density as a variable have been reported by Vieilledent et al. (2012) and Návar-Cháidez et al. (2013).

This work presents the first specie-specific equations for predicting the AGB and stem volume of Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila trees. Because all of the studied Jambire samples were collected from the same locality, the equations for this species should be considered to be site-specific for the time being. The development of both biomass and stem volume equations is useful because it avoids the limitations associated with biomass prediction on the basis of stem volumes alone. The equations presented herein should help Mozambican forest planners to accurately estimate the potential of their resources and to use them efficiently. Miombo tree species of the same DBH class do not vary greatly in height (Mugasha et al., 2013). Based on the range of sample trees examined in this work, the developed equations are suitable for trees with DBH values ranging from 10 to 70 cm and total heights of 5 - 30 m.

The models for total AGB and the biomasses of individual tree fractions that best fit the experimental data were selected based on their R^2 , RMSE and bias (AB, AAB) values (Table 5). According to Parresol et al. (1987), AAB values are particularly useful for this purpose. Because several different types of power equation were tested for predicting stem volume, multiple statistical criteria were used to identify that with the best fit, including RSE, AIC and an overall rank test. Chavé et al (2005) recommended a combination of R^2 and RSE while Burnham & Anderson (2002) recommended AIC for model selection. In this work, an overall rank assessment based on every calculated statistical parameter (R^2 , RMSE, RSE, AAB, AB, AIC) was adopted. This

approach proved to be robust. It is possible that models with superior fits could be developed by including other locale-specific variables such as precipitation, climate, or soil type (Chavé et al., 2005 and Henry et al., 2010). In addition, further research will be required to develop equations that can describe variation in miombo species that have not been extensively studied or documented.

5.2 Forest Residues Estimates

The developed biomass and stem volume equations were used to estimate the theoretical potential of forest residues that could be obtained from logging operations involving Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila species. It was determined that 50% these species' stem volumes are not commercially valued and are thus available as residues. Similar results for other species in Mozambique were reported by Fath (2001). If we assume that 50% of the wood biomass of tropical species is allocated to branches (Geldenhuys and Goldings, 2008) and depending on biomass allocation due to environmental factors (Abbot et al., 1997; Nelson et al., 1999; Segura and Kanninen, 2005; Murali et al., 2005), it is clear that the amount of residual biomass will vary between species.

The estimated commercial stem lengths generated during this work were greater than the log dimensions listed in local forest companies' records. However, direct comparisons between the two datasets are not necessarily meaningful because the companies' records did not state how many logs were derived from individual trees, how many logs were obtained from thick branches, or the number of missing records. The findings of this study indicate that the Mozambican forest industry produces large quantities of unutilized residual biomass that is not well accounted for.

Historical data show that the three studied species dominated Mozambique's harvested volumes over the last 13 years. The models and findings presented herein should thus be useful for the management of country's existing commercial stock. However, further research on the availability of logging residues in terms of stand stock, market demand and logistical issues is needed. Moreover, little is known about the potential environmental consequences of harvesting forest residues because they are currently regarded as unwanted by-products of harvesting operations and left in place. This deficiency should be addressed. However, the negative environmental impacts of cutting natural forests in Mozambique to harvest fuelwood have been documented (Sitoe *et al.*, 2012). Fuelwood harvesting and the clearing of forest land for agricultural use are the major causes of deforestation in Mozambique today (Marzoli, 2007; Sitoe *et al.*, 2012). The

results presented herein suggest that residual material from the harvesting of the studied tree species could represent a viable source of bioenergy whose exploitation could address the country's demand for fuelwood and thus alleviate some of the pressure on its primary and secondary forests.

6 Conclusions

The first equations that predict the aboveground biomass and stem volume for three of Mozambique's most valuable native trees species - Chanfuta, Jambire and Umbila – have been developed. The biomass equation can estimate the biomass of individual tree fractions and woody biomass residues derived from logging activity that could potentially be used to generate bioenergy. The stem volume study was the first attempt to develop species-specific volume equations for native commercial tree species in Mozambique. The equations presented herein represent valuable contributions because they will enable the creation of tools that will allow Mozambican forest planners to predict merchantable volumes with greater accuracy than was previously possible, estimate forest resource stocks, and define appropriate management strategies. However, tropical Miombo forests exhibit high species diversity, and further work will be required to develop species-specific volume and taper equations that will complement the models presented herein by accounting for geographical and ecological variability in regions harbouring miombo species.

The main conclusions of this thesis are:

- The studied species differed with respect to the mean total biomass per standing tree, which was 0.9 tons for Chanfuta, 1 ton for Jambire and 0.3 tons for Umbila.
- The studied species allocated their biomass across their various fractions in different ways: Chanfuta and Jambire allocated most of their woody biomass to their stems while Umbila allocated more to the branches.
- The biomass of the studied species is best predicted as a function of the diameter (DBH) alone using a non-linear power equation, $AGB = \beta_0 D^{\beta_1}$.
- The stem volume of the studied species is best predicted as a function of both the DBH and stem height, $V = \beta_0 D^{\beta_1} H^{\beta_2}$.

- The total merchantable stem length was between 30 and 70% of the total stem length for the studied species.
- At the individual species level, the bulk of the logging residues would derive from Umbila because it allocates most of its biomass to its branches, which are not used commercially by Mozambican forest companies.
- The developed biomass and volume equations are suitable for use in Mozambique and provide accurate estimates of biomass and stem volume at the stand and landscape levels that can be used to support forest resource use planning.



7 Further work

Future studies for the PhD should aim to:

- Use the developed biomass and volume equations to assess the potential of raw material from native and planted forests for energy generation and assess the associated logistical issues;
- Determine relevant fuel quality parameters for the residual material left behind after timber harvesting of the studied species, e.g. its heating value and ash content;
- Perform a life cycle assessment for the use of whole tree biomass (*Eucalyptus*) as an energy source (on-going work in collaboration with other PhD student at the Department).

References

[GTOS] Global Terrestrial Observing System. (2009). Assessment of the status of the development of the standards for the terrestrial essentials climate variables. Rome. 18pp.

Abbot P., Lowero J. & Werren M. (1997). Models for the estimation of single tree volume in four Miombo woodlands types. *Forest Ecology and Management* 97, 25-37.

Abbot, P.; Homewood, K. (1999). A history of change: causes of miombo woodland decline in a protected area in Malawi. J. Applied Ecology 36, 422-433.

Adekunle, V. A. J. (2007). Non-linear regression models for timber volume estimation in natural forest ecosystem, Southwest Nigeria. *Research Journal of Forestry* 1(2), 40-54.

Akaike, H. (1974). Q new look at the statistical model identification. *IEEE Transactions Automatic Contro* 19(6), 716-723.

Akindele S.O. and LeMay V.M. (2006). Development of tree volume equations for common timber species in the tropical rain forest area of Nigeria. *Forest Ecology and Management* 22(1-3), 41-48.

Alberto, M. M. (2006). A contribution of the Forestry and Wildlife Sector to the country's economy. *National Directorate of Forestry and Wildlife*. Maputo. 92pp.

Alemdag, I.S. (1988). A ratio method for calculating stem volume to variable merchantable limits, and associated taper equations. *The Forestry Chronicle* 64, 18-26.

Andersson, E.; Tuimala, A. (1980). Definitioner, mm, vid vedundersökningar (Definitions for Wood Technology) (in Swedish); *The Nordic Joint Group in Wood Technology Research* Note, 4; 53–66p.

Argola, J.F.G. (2004).Causes of forest cover changes in Beira Corridor. *Department of Forestry Engeneering* /FAEF/UEM. Maputo/Mozambique, 64 pp.

Baker, P. J. (2003). Tree age estimation for the tropics: a test from the Southern Appalachians. *Ecological Applications* 13, 1718–1732.

Barrio Anta, M., Diéguez-Aranda, U., Castelo-Dorado, F., González, J.G.A. & Von Gadow, Klaus. (2007). Merchantable volume system for pedunculate oak in Northwestern Spain. *Annals of Forest Science* 64 (5): 511-520.

Berhe, L. (2009). Volume and Implicit Taper Functions for *Cupressus Lusitanica* and *Pinus patula* tree Plantations in Ethiopia. *Ethiopian Journal of Environmental Studies and Management* 2(1), 12-28.

Brown, S. (1997). Estimating biomass and biomass change of tropical forests. *Forest Resources Assessment Publication. Forestry Papers 134*. FAO, Rome, 55 pp.

Brown, S., Gillespie, A. J. R. & Lugo, A. E. (1989). Biomass estimation for tropical forest with application of inventory data. *Forest Science* 35(4), 881-902.

Brown, S.; Lugo, A. E. (1992). Aboveground biomass estimates for tropical moist forests of the Brazilian Amazon. *Interciencia*, 1, 8-18.

Bunster, J. H. (1995). Fifty (52) woods of Mozambique "52 Madeiras de Mocambique". Technologic Cathalogue. *Department of Forestry Engeneering*/ UEM/FAEF. Maputo. Mozambique, 1-822.

Burkhart HE. (1977). Cubic-foot volume of loblolly pine to any merchantable top limit. *Southern Journal of Applied Forestry*, 1: 7–9.

Burnham, K.P. & Anderson, D.R. (2002). Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach, 2nd ed. *Springer*, New York. 515pp.

Campbell, B.M., Angelsen, A., Cunningham, A., Katerere, Y., Sitoe, A., and Wunder, S. (2007). Miombo woodlands – opportunities and barriers to sustainable forest management. *CIFOR*. 35pp.

Cangela, A.C.N.P. (2008). Assessment of Availability of firewood and charcoal in the Northen part of Sofala Province using the SAMA-GM. *Department of Forestry Engeneering/UEM*. Maputo/Mozambique. 54pp.

Cao, Q. V., Burkhart, H.E. and Max, T.A. (1980). Evaluation of two methods for cubic-volume prediction of loblolly pine to any merchantable limit. *Forest Science* 26(1), 71-80.

Case, B.S., & Hall, R.J. (2008). Assessing prediction errors of generalized tree biomass and volume equations for the boreal forest region of west-central Canada. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Forestiere* 38, 878-889

Chamshama, S. A. O.; Mugasha, A. G.; Zahabu, E. (2004). Stand biomass and volume estimation for Miombo woodlands at Kitulangalo, Morogoro, Tanzania. *South. African Forestry Journal* 200 (1), 59-70.

Chavé, J., Andalo, C., Brown, S., Cairns, M.A., Chambers, J.Q., Eamus, D., Fölster, H., Fromard, F., Higuchi, N., Kira, T., Lescure, J.-P., Nelson, B.W., Ogawa, H., Puig, H., Riera, B. & Yamakura, T. (2005). Tree allometry and improved estimation of carbon stocks and balance in tropical forests. *Oecologia* 145(1), 87–99.

Chavé, J.; Condit, R., Lao, S.; Caspersen, J.P.; Foster, R.B.; Hubbell, S.P. (2003). Spatial and temporal variation in biomass of a tropical forest: results from a large census plot in Panama. *Journal of Ecology.*, 91, 240–252.

Chidumayo, E. N. (1990). Aboveground woody biomass structure and productivity in Zambezian woodlands. *Forest Ecology and Management* 36, 33-46.

Cuambe, C. and Marzoli, A. (2006). Manual Forestry Inventory, Integrated Forest Assessment of Mozambique (AIFM), Final Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forest (DNTF)-Ministry of Agriculture*: Maputo, Mozambique. 42pp.

Da Cunha, U.S. (2004). Dendrometry and forestry inventory. Manaus, 61pp.

DFSC (Danida Forest Seed Center). (2000). Afzelia quanzensis Welw. Seed leaflet 31, 2 pp.

DNFFB (National Directorate of Forest and Wildlife). (1998). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF):* Maputo, Mozambique, 16pp.

DNFFB (National Directorate of Forest and Wildlife). (1999). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF)*: Maputo, Mozambique, 35pp.

DNFFB (National Directorate of Forest and Wildlife). (2000). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF)*: Maputo, Mozambique, 55pp.

DNFFB (National Directorate of Forest and Wildlife). (2001). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF)*: Maputo, Mozambique, 68pp.

DNFFB (National Directorate of Forest and Wildlife). (2002). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF)*: Maputo, Mozambique, 49pp.

DNFFB (National Directorate of Forest and Wildlife). (2002). Regulation for the Forestry and Wildlife Policy. *Government Bulletin* 1, 25 p.

DNFFB (National Directorate of Forest and Wildlife). (2003). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF)*: Maputo, Mozambique, 50pp.

DNFFB (National Directorate of Forest and Wildlife). (2004). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF)*: Maputo, Mozambique, 47pp.

DNFFB (National Directorate of Forest and Wildlife). (2005). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF)*: Maputo, Mozambique, 50pp.

DNFFB (National Directorate of Forest and Wildlife). (2006). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF)*: Maputo, Mozambique, 56pp.

DNFFB (National Directorate of Forest and Wildlife). (2007). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF)*: Maputo, Mozambique, 41pp.

DNTF (National Directorate of land and Forests). (2010). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF)*: Maputo, Mozambique, 37pp.

DNTF (National Directorate of land and Forests). (2011). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF)*: Maputo, Mozambique, 23pp.

DNTF (National Directorate of land and Forests). (2012). Annual Statistic Report; *National Directorate of Land and Forestry (DNTF)*: Maputo, Mozambique, 20pp.

Dorado F.C., Dieguez-Aranda, U., Anta, M.B., Rodriguez, M.S. & Gadow K.V. (2006). A generalized height-diameter model including random components for radiata pine plantations in northwestern Spain. *Forest Ecology and Management* 229, 202-213.

ECCM (Edinburgh Centre for Carbon Management). 2005. Technical Specification. Mozambique *Technical Specification Boundary Planting. Edinburgh.* UK., 8 pp.

FAO. (2005). Miombo woodlands and HIV/AIDS interactions – Mozambique Country Report. FAO Forestry Policy and Institutions Working Paper 2. Rome.

FAO. (2010). What woodfuels can do to mitigate climate change. FAO Forestry Paper 162, Rome. 98 pp.

FAO. (2010a). Forest Resource Assessment - 2010 - Mozambique Country Report. Rome. 54pp.

FAO. (2012). State of the World's Forests. FAO. Rome. Italy, 66 pp.

Fath, H. (2001). Commercial Timber harvesting in the natural forest of Mozambique. In *FAO Forest Harvesting: Case Study*; Rome, Italy 18, 50 pp.

Fichtler E., Trouet V., Beeckman H., Coppin P. & Worbes, M.(2004). Climatic signals in tree rings of *Burkea Africana* and *Pterocarpus angolensis* from semiarid forests in Namibia. *Trees* 18, 442-451.

Figueiredo-Filho, A., Borders, B.E. & Hitch, K.L. (1996). Taper equations for *Pinus taeda* plantations in southern Brazil. *Forest Ecology and Management* 83, 39-46.

Fonweban, J., Gardiner, B. & Auty, D. (2012). Variable-top merchantable volume equations for scots pine (pinus sylvestris) and Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* Bong.) in Northern Britain. *An International Journal of Forest Research* 85(2): 237-253.

Geist, H, J. and Lambin, E.F. (2002). Proximate causes and underlining driving forces of tropical deforestation. *BioScience* 52 (2): 143-50.

Gérard, J. & Louppe, D. (2011). Afzelia quanzensis Welw. [Internet] Record from PROTA4U. Lemmens, R.H.M.J., Louppe, D. & Oteng-Amoako, A.A. (Editors). *PROTA (Plant Resources of Tropical Africa / Ressources végétales de l'Afrique tropicale)*, Wageningen, Netherlands. [online] (01.09.2014). Available from http://www.prota4u.org/search.asp>.

Gier, I. A. (1992). Forest mensuration: fundamentals. *International Institute for Aerospace Survey and Earth Sciences (ITC)*, Holland. 67pp.

Gillespie, A.J.; Brown, S.; Lugo, A.E. (1992). Tropical forest biomass estimation from truncated stand tables. *Forest Ecology and Management* 48, 69-87.

Gomes e Sousa, A. (1964). Dendrology of Mozambique. A general study. In Memories. *Institute of Agrarian Research of Mozambique*. Maputo. Mozambique, 1-80.

Guendehou, G.H.S., Lehtonen, A., Moudachiroou, M., Mäkipää, R. & Sinsin, B. (2012). Stem biomass and volume models of selected tropical tree species in West Africa. *Southern Forests* 74(2), 77-88.

Henry, M., A., Besnard, W. A., Asante, J., Eshun, S., Adu-Bredu, R., Valentini, M., Bernoux and L. Saint-Andre. 2010. Wood density, phytomass variations within and among trees, and allometric equations in a Tropical Rainforest of Africa. *Forest Ecology and Management* 260(8), 1375-1388.

Hines, D.A. and Eckman, K. (1993). Indigenous multipurpose trees of Tanzania. Uses and economic benefits for people. Cultural Survival Canada and Development Services Foundation of Tanzania & Tree Roots Canada. FAO. 275 pp.

Houghton, R. A. (2005). Aboveground Forest Biomass and the Global Carbon Balance, *Global Change Biology* 11, 945–958

Hunter, M.O.; Keller, M.; Victoria, D. and Morton, D.C. (2013). Tree height and tropical forest biomass estimation. *Biogeosciences*, 10, 8385–8399

Husch, B.; Beers, T. W.; Kershaw Jr, J. A. (2003). Forest mensuration. *John Wiley and Sons ed.* 4th Ed. United States of America, 447 pp.

Johansson, T. (1999). Biomass equations for determining fractions of pendula and pubescent birches growing on abandoned farmland and some practical implications. *Biomass and bioenergy* 16, 223-238.

Johansson, T. (2006). Site index conversion equations for *Picea abies* and five broadleaved species in Sweden. *Alnus glutinosa, Alnus incana, Betula pendula, Bentula pubescens* and *Populus tremula. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 21, 14-19.

Johansson, T.; Karacic, A. (2011). Increment and biomass in hybrid poplar and some practical implications. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 35, 1925-1934.

Kanime N. & Laamanen, R. (2002). Mashare forest inventory report. Namibia-Finland Forestry Programme. *Ministry of Environment and Tourism. Windhoek*, 27 pp.

Kittredge, J. (1944). Estimation of the amount of foliage of trees and stands. *Journal of Forestry* 42, 905–912.

Kozak, A. & Kozak, R. (2003). Does cross validation provide additional information in the evaluation of regression models? *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 33, 976-987.

Lemmens, R.H.M.J. (2008). *Millettia stuhlmannii* Taub. In: Louppe, D., Oteng-Amoako, A.A. & Brink, M. (Editors). Prota 7(1): Timbers/Bois d'œuvre 1. [CD-Rom]. *PROTA*, Wageningen, Netherlands.

Lumbres, R.I.C., Lee, Y.J. and Seo, Y.O. (2012). Development of height-dbh growth model and biomass estimation of Pinus *kesiya* Royle ex Gordon in La Trinidad, Benguet, Philippines. *Asia Life Sciences* 21(1), 177-188.

Machoco, R. de S. (2008). Biomass expansion factor for forest biomass in Beira Corridor Region (in Portuguese). *Faculty of Agronomy and Forestry Engineering*: Maputo, Mozambique, 67pp.

Mackenzie, C. (2006). Forest governance in Zambézia, Mozambique. Final Report for FONGZA. 87pp.

MAE (Ministry of State Administration). (2005a). Profile of Cheringoma District. Maputo. *MAE/METIER*, 63 pp.

MAE (Ministry of State Administration). (2005b). Profile of Funhalouro District. Maputo. *MAE/METIER*, 54 pp.

Mangue, P. (2000). Review of the existing studies related to fuel wood and/ or charcoal in Mozambique. *FAO Project GCP/INT/679/EC*. Maputo. Mozambique. Maputo. 92pp.

Marzoli, A. (2007). National Forest Inventory; Integrated Forest Assessment of Mozambique (AIFM), Maputo; *National Directorate of Land and Forest (DNTF)-Ministry of Agriculture*: Maputo, Mozambique, 92pp.

Mate, R., Johansson, T. and Almeida S. (2014). Biomass equations for tropical tree species in Mozambique. *Forests* 5, 535-556.

Mbaekwe, E.I., and Mackenzie, J.A. (2008). The use of a best-fit allometric model to estimate aboveground biomass accumulation and distribution in an age series of teak (*Tectona grandis* L.f.) plantations at Gambari Forest Reserve, Oyo State, Nigeria. *Tropical Ecology* 49, 259-270.

ME (Ministry of Energy). (2012). Mozambique biomass national strategy. Final Report. *Ministry* of Energy, 171pp.

Mni, K & O., F. (2010). Allometric relationships for predicting the stem volume in a *Dalbergia sissoo* Roxb. plantation in Bangladesh. *Forest – Biogeosciences and Forestry* 3, 153-158.

Montés, N., Gauquelin, T., Badri, W., Bertaudieáre, V., and Zaoui, El. H. (2000). A nondestructive method for estimating aboveground forest biomass in threatened woodlands. *Forest Ecology and Management* 130, 37-46.

Mugasha, Wilson, A., Bollandsas, O. M. & Eid, T. (2013). Relationships between diameter and height of trees in Natural Tropical Forest in Tanzania. *Southern Forests* 75 (4), 221-237.

Murali, K.S.; Bhat, D.M.; Ravindranath, N.H. (2005). Biomass estimation equation for tropical deciduous and evergreen forests. International *Journal of Agricultural. Resources, Governance Ecology* 1 (4), 81-92.

Mwakalukwa, E.E.; Meilby, H. and Treue, T. (2014). Volume and Aboveground Biomass Models for Dry Miombo Woodland in Tanzania. *International Journal of Forestry Research*, 1-11.

Návar, J. (2010). Measurement and assessment methods of forest aboveground biomass: a literature review and challenges ahead. In: Biomass, Book edited by Maggie Momba and Faizal Bux. CIIDIR-IPN Unidad Durango. Croatia. 202 pp.

Návar-Cháidez, J. de. J. (2009). Allometric equations and expansion factors for tropical dry forest trees of Eastern Sinaloa, Mexico. Tropical and Subtropical *Agroecosystems* 10, 45-52.

Návar-Cháidez, J.; Rodríguez-Flores, F.J.; Domínguez-Calleros, P.A. (2013). Allometric equations for tropical trees: Application of forest inventory of Sianloa, México. *Agron. Mesoam*, *24*, 347–356.

Nelson B.W.; Mesquita, R.; Pereira, J.L.G.; de Souza, S.G.A.; Batisad, G.T.; Coutoe, L.B. (1999). Allometric regressions for improved estimate of secondary forest biomass in the central Amazonia, Brazil. *Forest Ecology and Management* 117, 149-167.

Nhancale, B.A., Mananze, S.E., Dista, N.F., Nhantumbo, I. and Macqueen, D.J. (2009). Small and medium forest enterprises in Mozambique. IIED Small and Medium Forest Enterprise Series No. 25. Centro Terra Viva and International Institute for Environment and Development, London, UK. 58pp.

Nhantumbo, I., Macqueen, D., Cruz, R. and Serra, A. (2013). Investing in locally controlled forestry in Mozambique. IIED/IUCN/Rural Consult. 95pp.

Nord-Larsen, T., Meilby, H. & Skovsgaard, J. (2009). Site specific height growth models for six common tree species in Denmark. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 24, 194-204.

Nur Hajar, Z.S., Mohd Shukri, W.A.W., Samsudin, M., Wan Razali, W.M., & Ismail, H. (2010). Development of local volume table for second growth forests using standing tree measurements. Malaysian Forester, 73, 163-170.

Onyekwelu, J. C. (2004). Aboveground biomass production and biomass equations for even-aged *Gmelina Arborea* (Roxb) plantations in South-Western Nigeria. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 26 (1), 39-46.

Orwa, C., Muta, A., Kindt, R., Jamnads, R., Simons, A. (2009). Agroforestree Database: A tree reference and selection guide version 4.0. Available from

http://www.worldagroforestry.org/resources/databases/agroforestree.

Palgrave, K.C. (2002). Trees of Southern Africa, 2nd Edition. Struik Publishers. 1212pp.

Parresol, B.R., Hotvedt, J.E. & Cao, Q.V.A. (1987). A volume and taper prediction system for bald cypress. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 17, 250-259.

Parresol, B.R. (1999). Assessing tree and stand biomass: a review with examples and critical comparisons. Forest Science 45 (4), 575-593.

Pearson, T., Walker, S., Brown, S. (2005). Sourcebook for Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry Project. *Bio FC. WinRock. International*. 64pp.

Puná, N. H. (2008). Maputo charcoal supply chain study. *INBAR, MINAG and GNTFPP*. Maputo. 45 pp.

Remane, I.A.D. (2013). Analysis of annual growth of Millettia Stuhlmannii in Mozambique. Master thesis. *Southern Illinois University of Carbondale*, 133pp.

Ribeiro, N.S., Shugart, H.H. Washington-Allen, R. (2008). The effects of fire and elephants on species composition and structure of the Niassa Reserve, northern Mozambique. *Forest Ecology and Management* 255(5-6), 1626-1636.

SAS. (2006). SAS Institute Inc. Version 9.1. Gary. NC.

Schikowski, A. B.; Mattos, P. P. de; Rosot, N. C.; Emeremciano, D. G; Fernandes, A. dos M.; Soto, S. J. (2010). Dendrochronological potential of hardwoods species in Mozambique (Potencial dendrocronológico de espécies arbóreas de Moçambique). Embrapa Florestas. Comunicado técnico, 264, 4pp.

Segura, M.; Kanninen, M. (2005). Allometric models for tree volume and total aboveground biomass in a Tropical Humid Forest in Costa Rica. Biotropica 37 (1), 2-8.

Sharma, M.and Parton, J. (2007). Height-diameter equations for boreal tree species in Ontario using a mixed-effects modelling approach. *Forest Ecology and Management* 249, 187-198.

Sitoe, A., Salomão, A. and Wertz-Kanounnikoff, S. (2012). The Context of REDD+ In Mozambique: Causes, Actors and Institutions. CIFOR. Bogor, Indonesia. *Occasional Publication* 6, 74 pp.

Sitoe, A.; Mirira, R.; Tchaúque, F. (2007). Assessment of Consumption levels of biomass energy in Tete, Nampula, Zambézia, Sofala, Gaza and Maputo Provinces. *Ministry of Energy/Faculty of Agronomy and Forestry Engineering; Ministry of Energy:* Maputo, Mozambique, 50pp.

Sitoe, A.A. (1997). Diameter growth in Miombo woodland in central Mozambique. *IUFRO/CIFOR conference on growth studies in moist tropical forest in Africa*; 196-199. Kumasi. Ghana.

Stahle, D. W., Mushove, P. T., Cleaveland, M. K., Roig, F. and Haynes, G. A. (1999). Management implications of annual growth rings in Pterocarpus angolensis from Zimbabwe. *Forest Ecology and Management* 124, 217-229.

Stahle, D.W., Mushove, P.T. Cleaveland, M.K., Roig, F., and Haynes, G.A. (1999). Management implications of annual growth rings in *Pterocarpus angolensis* from Zimbabwe. *Forest Ecology and Management* 124, 217-229.

Steenkamp, C.J., Vogel, J.C., Fuls, A., van Rooyen, N., and van Rooyen, M.W. (2008). Age determination of *Acacia erioloba* trees in the Kalahari. Journal of Arid Environments, 72, 302-313

Stewart, J. L., Dunsdon, A. J., Hellin, J. J., and Hughes, C. E. (1992). Wood biomass estimation of central American dry zone species. *Tropical Forest Paper n. 26*. UK.

Syampungani, S., Geledenhuys, C. and Chirwa, P. (2010). Age and growth rate determination using growth rings of selected miombo woodland species in charcoal and, slash and burn regrowth stands in Zambia. *Journal of Ecology and the Natural Environment* 2 (8), 167-174.

Tchaúque, F.D.D.L.J. 2004. Assessment of Aboveground Biomass in Beira Corridor; *Faculty of Agronomy and Forestry Engineering*: Maputo, Moçambique, 49 pp.

Tewari, V. P., Mariswamy K. M. & Arunkumar, A. N. (2013). Total and merchantable volume Equations for *Tectona grandis* Linn. F. Plantations in Karnataka, India. *Journal of Sustainable Forestry* 32(3), 213-229.

Therrell, M.D., Stahle, D.W., Mukelabai, M.M., and Shugart, H.H. (2007). Age and radial growth dynamics of *Pterocarpus angolensis* in southern Africa. *Forest Ecology and Management* 244, 24-31.

Tomo, F.A. (2012). Estimates of carbon stock in Miombo forest in Gondola District. *Faculty of Agronomy and Forestry Engineering*: Maputo, Mozambique, 63pp.

Tshisikhawe, M.P., Siaga, N.M., & Bhat, R.B. (2011). Population dynamics of *Millettia stuhlmannii* Taub. in Ha-Makhuvha, Vhembe district of Limpopo Province, South Africa. *Phyton-International Journal of Experimental Botany* 80, 127-132

Vieilledent, G., Vaudry, R., Andriamanohisoa, S.F.D., Rakotonarivo, O.S., Randrianasolo, H.Z., Razafindrabe, H.N., Rakotoarivony, C.B., Ebeling, J., and Rasamoelina, M. (2012). A universal approach to estimate biomass and carbon stock in tropical forests using generic allometric models. *Ecological Applications*, 22, 572-583

WAD (Woodcrafter Association of Durban). (2005). Wood of the month. *Newsletter Woodcrafters Association Durban* 15, 9 pp.

Webb, A. R. & Copsey, K.D. (2011). Statistical Pattern Recognition. *Wiley, Chichester*, England. 668 pp.

Williams, M.; Ryan, C.M.; Rees, R.M; Sambane, E.; Fernando, J. and Grace, J. (2008). Carbon sequestration and biodiversity of re-growing Miombo woodlands in Mozambique. *Forest Ecology and Management* 254, 145-155.

Worbes, M. (2002). One hundred years of tree-ring research in the tropics: a brief history and an outlook to future challenges. *Dendrochronologia* 20, 217–231.

Worbes, M.; Junk, W. (1999). How old are the tropical trees: a persistence of a myth. *IAWA Journal* 20 (3), 255-260.

Wyk, B.V. and Wyk, P.V. (1997). Field guide to trees of southern Africa. *Struik Publisher*. Cape Town. South Africa, 525pp.

Xiao, X., White, E.P., Hooten, M.B., and Durham, S.L. (2011). On the use of log-transformation vs. nonlinear regression for analysing biological power laws. *Ecology* 92(10), 1887-1894.

Zar, J.H. (1999). Biostatistical Analysis. Prentice-Hall. Englewood Cliffs. NJ. USA.

Zhang, P. (1993). Model Selection via multifold Cross-Validation. *Annals of Statistics* 21(1), 299-313.

Zianis, D., Muukkonen, P., Mäkipää, R. and Mencuccini, M. (2005). Biomass and stem volume equations for tree species in Europe. *Silva Fennica Monographs*, 4. 63 pp.

Zianis, D and Mencuccini, M. (2004). On simplifying allometric analyses of forest biomass. *Forest Ecology and Management* 187, 311–332.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I must thank my main supervisor Raida Jirjis and my assistant supervisors Tord Johansson, Johan Vinterbäck and Almeida Sitoe for their support during the planning and execution of these studies. Special thanks go to Tord Johansson for his devotion and guidance throughout the study period.

I also gratefully acknowledge the Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA), for the financial support given to me via the Faculty of Agronomy and Forestry Engineering (FAEF) at UEM.

Third, I am deeply indebted to everyone who was involved in the fieldwork for this study: Candida, Chico, Ussivane, Amadeu, Salomão, Adolfo, Murrombe, Mr. Paulino, Mr. Macamo, Mr. Massico and Mr. Miguel.

All of my colleagues at the Department of Energy and Technology are owed thanks for a number of wonderful collaborations. Special thanks are due to Hanna Klarlsson, Joel Kinobe, Charlotta, and Idah for the shared thoughts and encouragement.

I must also thank my fellow PhD students - Nícia Givá, Emílio Magaia, Mário Chilundo, João Bila, Tarquinio Magalhães and Benard Guedes - for their moral support, helpful contributions, and sharing of ideas.

My colleague and friend Candida Zita helped me greatly on several occasions by looking after my little girl Lakisha on occasions when I could not.

To my mother Lúcia and my sisters and brothers Elisa, Zacarias, Lina, Nasma and Abrantes thanks for their moral support.

Finally, not least, I am grateful to my husband, Teófilo Munjovo, and my kids Dylan and Lakisha for their unconditional support and love during my periods of absence.

Linguistic revision was made by Sees-Editing Ltd UK, which is gratefully acknowledged.